ICA EFiled: Feb 13 2023 08:33PM EST Transaction ID 69143219

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 22-ICA-243

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT CASE NO. 22-P-30(C)

Jay Folse, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

VS.

G. Russell Rollyson Jr. and John McCuskey Jr. Defendants Below, Respondents

APPEAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER JAY FOLSE

Robert W. Bright (10145) Counsel for Petitioner WV State Bar #10145 278 S. 5th Ave. Middleport, Ohio 45760 740-304-0688 740-994-5178 (FAX) robwbright@yahoo.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1: THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 2021, Petitioner Folse (hereinafter "Folse") purchased a tax lien (Certificate No. 252922, described as "LOT 37 Crawford ADD, CAMERON CORP district") at a State Auditor's tax sale and the sale was approved by the Respondents on November 1, 2021, with a letter instructing Folse to fill out and return the notice to redeem forms in order to complete the sale (AR 2, 9). Folse directed Respondents to serve the Notice to Redeem upon the owner of the property, Stanley Lahew (AR 2, 9). Mr. Lahew was served with the notice (AR 9) on January 31, 2022 (AR 38). The notice informed Mr. Lahew that he had until March 23, 2022 to redeem the property (AR 31). March 23, 2022 came and went without Mr. Lahew redeeming the property and Respondents did not issue the tax deed at that time or at any time thereafter.

On May 17, 2022 - more than six (6) months after Folse purchased the tax lien certificate and three and one half (3.5) months after service was made on Mr. Lahew <u>and nearly two (2) months</u> <u>after the deadline for Mr. Lahew to redeem the property had passed</u> - Stanley Lahew filed a quit claim deed transferring his ownership of the property to the City of Cameron (AR 3, 26).

On May 24, 2022, Respondent Rollyson sent Folse a letter (AR 23) stating that Folse's purchase of the property was being set aside because Mr. Lahew had signed the quit claim deed to the City of Cameron (AR 9). Respondents directed the Sheriff of Marshall County to refund the money Folse had spent to purchase the tax lien (AR 10).

On or about July 5, 2022, Folse filed a **PETITION TO COMPEL ISSUANCE OF A TAX DEED** (AR 2) in the Marshall County Circuit Court and Respondent moved the Court to dismiss the Petition filed by Folse (AR 7). On August 8, 2022, Folse filed a **RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS** (AR 41). Respondents filed a Reply to Folse's Response to the Motion to Dismiss on or about September 9, 2022 (AR 48).

On or about October 13, 2022, the Circuit Court of Marshall County filed an **ORDER GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS** (AR 55).

The Circuit Court's Order explicitly found that: (1) the Auditor's Office had not refused to perform any required statutory duty (AR 56, 58); (2) the tax lien was merged when the City of Cameron purchased the property (AR 56, 58, 59);(3) any dispute regarding the property is between Folse and the City of Cameron (AR 56); (4) no additional damages are contemplated by *W.V. Code* § 11A-3-60 (AR 58); (5) there is no right to a jury trial (AR 58); (6) there is no right to discovery (AR 58); and (7) no additional remedies or claims exist outside the statutory framework (AR 58).

Petitioner Folse appeals from that **ORDER**.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Folse asserts that his purchase of the tax lien on the property holds priority over the purchase of the property by the City of Cameron from the property owner by quit claim deed because Folse purchased the tax lien months prior to the purchase of the property by the City of Cameron.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner Folse does not believe that Oral Argument is necessary in this matter and believes that this case is appropriate for Memorandum Decision.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Young v. State*, 241 W.Va. 489, 826 S.E.2d 346 (2019), this Court stated the applicable standard of review:

... we have held that "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review.

Additionally, this Court stated in *Savarese v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 223 W.Va. 119, 672 S.E.2d 255 (2008):

In general, this Court will apply a de novo standard of review to a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss.

ARGUMENT

1: THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE.

Respondents claim in their motion to dismiss that "When the City of Cameron purchased the property the tax lien sale was voided." That claim fails as discussed below.

Respondents claim that *EB Dorev Holdings*, *Inc. v. W.Va. Dep't of Admin.*, 760 S.E.2d 875 (W. Va. 2014) supports Respondents' position that the quit claim deed executed by the property owner transferring the property to the City of Cameron extinguishes or merges the tax lien into the City's ownership. *EB Dorev* was addressing the doctrine of merger, which was described in *Truist Bank v. Putillion*, CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:18-cv-01384 (S.D.W. Va. May. 7, 2020) as "a security interest is a lesser property right than outright ownership, and a person cannot logically own property and simultaneously have a security interest in that same property."

First, there is a significant difference between the factual situation in *EB Dorev* and the factual situation in this case. In *EB Dorev*, the WVDOA filed a Complaint and a Petition for Writ

of Mandamus seeking to prevent the issuance of the tax deeds to EB Dorev **BEFORE** the redemption deadline had passed. In this case, the redemption deadline passed nearly two (2) months before Stanley Lahew executed and filed the quit-claim deed transferring the property to the City of Cameron.

In this case, for whatever reason(s), Respondents chose not to issue the tax deed to Petitioner for nearly two (2) months after the redemption deadline had passed. During those nearly two (2) months, Petitioner was entitled to receive a tax deed for the property which he had purchased and which the property owner had not redeemed. Respondents' refusal to issue the tax deed for nearly two (2) months after the redemption deadline had passed constituted a refusal to perform a statutorily required duty.

Second, the *EB Dorev* holding is not controlling of this instant controversy and has little applicability. It appears from a search of Westlaw by Petitioner's Counsel that the doctrine of merger has rarely, if ever, been applied to factual situations related to tax liens prior to *EB Dorev*. Notably, when the Respondents claimed in their Motion to Dismiss that "*The same rule of law applies to municipalities, such as the City of Cameron.*", Respondents offered no supporting authority to make such a claim - likely because there is little case law from West Virginia Courts of Appeals addressing such an issue.

Importantly, the tax lien and the property in this case are not owned by the same entity. Petitioner asserts that this Court need not go into any deeper analysis of the situation than that fact to resolve the matter at issue in this appeal. The doctrine of merger only applies where the security interest and title to the property are the same entity.

Again, as noted above, in *Truist Bank v. Putillion*, CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:18-cv-01384 (S.D.W. Va. May. 7, 2020), the District Court of the Southern District of West Virginia stated: "... a security interest is a lesser property right than outright ownership, and a person cannot logically own property and simultaneously have a security interest in that same property."

In this case, the security interest of a tax lien is owed to the State and ownership of the property is held by the City of Cameron. They are two distinct entities. The controversy in *EB Dorev* involved the State being required to pay taxes on its own property. That nonsensical situation does not come into play here as the City of Cameron would be required to pay the property taxes to the State, not the State paying taxes to itself.

Although the *EB Dorev* Court did reason that the doctrine of merger applied to those specific facts, and relied on *Armstrong Corp. v. Martin*, 119 W. Va. 50, 192 S.E. 125 (W. Va. 1937) to make that conclusion, Justice Loughry, in a concurring opinion, called it a "*tortured analysis*".

The *Armstrong* opinion which was relied on by the Court in *EB Dorev*, is distinguishable because *Armstrong's* facts relate to a bankruptcy sale. This is an important distinction as the relevant law and duties placed on persons are different. In this case involving a State Auditor's auction - even if the property was actually tax exempt - there still would be a duty of the former owner to pay property taxes.

As noted in $W.Va.Code \S 11-3-1(c)$: "The taxes upon all property shall be paid by those who are the owners thereof on the assessment date whether it be assessed to them or others."

The tax obligation of Mr. Lahew did not simply vaporize as a result of Mr. Lahew transferring the property to the City of Cameron by quit claim deed. According to W.Va.Code § 11-3-1(c), the past due taxes still would be owed by the former owner, Mr. Lahew.

However, this analysis may not even be necessary as the property is not necessarily tax exempt, not just retroactively, but as it relates to the present. WV Code $\S11-3-9(a)(3)$ states:

All property, real and personal, described in this subsection, and to the extent limited by this section, is exempt from taxation...

Property belonging exclusively to any county, district, city, village or town in this state and used for public purposes.

The doctrine of merger would not apply to municipalities such as the City of Cameron based on $WV Code \S 11-3-9(a)(3)$. This is because that subsection makes it clear that the tax exempt status depends on whether or not the property is being used for a public purpose, not solely whether ownership is held by a municipality. If municipalities could simply claim that they do not need to pay state taxes on any property they own due to the doctrine of merger - as Respondent's argument implies - then it would render that subsection meaningless.

In essence, what occurred here is that the State Auditor's Office determined that the property is exempt from taxation and is used for a public purpose, apparently without direct evidence to establish that determination. Additionally, the State Auditor's Office is without authority to make that determination.

WV Code §11-1C-7, titled in part, "Duties of county assessors", states (emphasis added):

Except for property appraised by the State Tax Commissioner under section ten of this article and property appraised and assessed under article six of this chapter, **all assessors shall**, within three years of the approval of the **county** valuation plan required pursuant to this section, appraise all real and personal property in their jurisdiction at fair market value except for special valuation provided for farmland and managed timberland. They shall utilize the procedures and methodologies established by the Property Valuation Training and Procedures Commission and the valuation system established by the Tax Commissioner.

The County Assessor has the sole authority to assess real property with only specific exemptions which allow the State Auditor, State Tax Department, or Board of Public Works to do so. These exemptions are not specified in one place but at various code sections and include

valuations of property owned by railroads, public utilities, and industrial properties. The Respondents are not the County Assessor and fail to point to any relevant law which would indicate they can unilaterally void a tax sale. Even if the property is tax exempt and the taxes are inchoate, the decision to void the tax sale should have come from the County Assessor or Sheriff, not the Respondents.

Concerning Motions to Dismiss, this Court has stated in *J.F. Allen Corp. v. Sanitary Bd. of City of Charleston*, 237 W.Va. 777, 85 S.E.2d 627 (2016): "... [f]or purposes of the motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true."

If the allegations contained in the Petition filed by Folse were construed in the light most favorable to Folse and taken as true, then the Circuit Court should not have dismissed Folse's Petition.

If Folse is successful in this appeal on the primary issue (i.e. that he complied with the requirements of *W.Va. Code § 11A-3-60* and Respondent should have issued the tax deeds), then Folse believes that he would be entitled to costs and attorney fees in the matter below and in this appeal.

Assuming Folse is successful in relation to the primary issue in this appeal, then Folse asserts that Respondents' actions in refusing to issue the certificate of extension were willful and in bad faith. As a result, Folse believes that he would be entitled to both attorney fees and costs. Folse asks this Court to order the same in both this proceeding and in the case below.

Folse also asked for damages in his **PETITION** filed below. The Circuit Court found that "... no additional "damages" are contemplated by W.Va. Code § 11A-3-60... No additional remedies or claims exist outside of the statutory framework.". Folse disagrees and would point out to this Court that there are legitimate damages related to the delays caused by the dismissal.

"It is well-established that government agencies and their officials have no immunity for ministerial acts." West Virginia Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W.Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015).

Folse asserts that the issuance of or denial of the issuance of a tax deed is a ministerial act. As such, then Respondents have no immunity related to their refusal to issue the tax deed to Folse (or any other person). Therefore, assuming that this Court rules in Folse's favor on the primary issue that Folse's purchase of the property held priority over the purchase of the property by the City of Cameron and that Respondents should thus have issued the tax deed sought by Folse, then Respondents would be liable for damages to Folse.

As the property Folse purchased at the State Auditor's auction previously sat vacant during the time period between Folse's purchase and the quit claim deed to the City of Cameron (and may still be sitting vacant), it was (perhaps is) likely deteriorating substantially. Many of the properties that Folse purchases are condemned or are in serious risk of deteriorating to the point of not being practical to remediate. Because of the delay in Folse receiving the tax deed which was caused by Respondents, the property may be in a more deteriorated condition and may even be demolished by the time this appeal is decided. As such, assuming that the Circuit Court was in error in dismissing Folse's PETITION, Folse will have suffered damage as a result of the actions of Respondents.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, for all of the above reasons, Petitioner Jay Folse moves the Court to reverse the decision of the Trial Court and remand this matter with direction to the Circuit Court consistent with this Court's ruling.

Jay Folse By Counsel,