#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Mar 29 2023

02:29PM EDT

Transaction ID 69684981

**CASE NO.: 22-ICA-243** 

JAY FOLSE,

Petitioner Below/Petitioner,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\bullet}$ 

G. RUSSELL ROLLYSON, JR., and JOHN MCCUSKEY, JR.,

Respondents Below/Respondents.

#### **RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

David P. Cook, Jr., Esq. (WVSB #9905) MacCorkle Lavender, PLLC 300 Summers Street, Suite 800 Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 344-5600 (304) 344-8141 (fax) dcook@mlclaw.com

**DATE:** March 29, 2023

##

II.	NATURE OF THE CASE		
	A.	Factual Background	
III.	SUMN	MARY OF RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR4	
IV.	7. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT		
V.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	The Standard of Review5	
	В.	The Circuit Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's "Petition to Compel Issuance of Deeds"	
VI. CONCLUSION		ELUSION10	

### I. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases:

El Dorev Holdings, Inc. v. W.Va. Dept. of Admin., 760 S.E.2d 875 (W. Va. 2014)
State ex rel McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W.Va. 770 (1995)
<u>Armstrong Products Corp. v. Martin</u> , 119 W.Va. 50, 192 S.E. 125 (1937)
State v. Locke, 219 P. 790 (N.M. 1923)
Smith v. City of Santa Monica, 162 Cal. 221, 121 P. 920 (1912)
<u>Childress County v. State</u> , 127 Tex. 343, 92 S.W.2d 1011 (1936)
<u>City of Marlin v. State</u> , 205 S.W.2d 809 (Tex.App.1947)
<u>Halvorsen v. Pacific County</u> , 22 Wash.2d 532, 156 P.2d 907 (1945)6
<u>In re County Collector</u> , 79 Ill.App.3d 151, 34 Ill.Dec. 717, 398 N.E.2d 392 (1979)7
<u>State v. Epperly</u> , 65 S.E.2d 488 (W.Va. 1951)9
State ex rel. Citizens Nat'l Bank v. Graham, 68 W. Va. 1, 69 S.E. 301 (1910)
Rollyson v. Jordan, 518 SE 2d 372 (W.Va. 1999)
Statutes:
<u>W.Va. Code</u> , 11A-3-601-3, 8-10
<u>W.Va. Code</u> , 11A-3-451
<u>W. Va. Code</u> , 11-3-9, et seq
Authorities:
Plack's Law Dictionary 080 (6th ed. 1000)

#### II. NATURE OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background

On July 5, 2022, the Petitioner, Jay Folse, filed an unverified "Petition to Compel Issuance of a Tax Deed", pursuant to W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 to compel G. Russell Rollyson, Jr., the Deputy Commissioner of Non-Entered Lands, and the Honorable John B. McCuskey, in his official capacity as the West Virginia State Auditor and as Commissioner of Delinquent and Non-entered Lands, Ex-Officio, to compel the issuance of a certain tax deed. (APP 00002-00004).

The sale at issue in the Petition was a tract sold at an annual auction held by the Deputy Commissioner of Non-Entered Lands.<sup>2</sup> (APP 00007-00040).

Pursuant to W.Va. Code §11A-3-60:

If the deputy commissioner fails or refuses to prepare and serve the notice to redeem as required in sections fifty-four and fifty-five of this article, the person requesting the notice may, at any time within two weeks after discovery of such failure or refusal, but in no event later than sixty days following the date the person requested that notice be prepared and served, apply by petition to the circuit court of the county for an order compelling the deputy commissioner to prepare and serve the notice or appointing a commissioner to do so. If the person requesting the notice fails to make such application within the time allowed, he shall lose his right to the notice, but his rights against the deputy commissioner under the provisions of section sixty-seven of this article shall not be affected. Notice given pursuant to an order of the court or judge shall be valid for all purposes as if given within the time required by section fifty-five of this article.

If the deputy commissioner fails or refuses to prepare and execute the deed as required in the preceding section, the person requesting the deed may, at any time after such failure or refusal, but not more than six months after his right to the deed accrued, apply by petition to the circuit court of the county for an order compelling the deputy commissioner to prepare and execute the deed or appointing a commissioner to do so. If the person requesting the deed fails to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Recognizing the Court's preference for reference to the Appendix Record to be formatted as "(AR xxxxx)," for the sake of consistency within this appeal, this Brief will follow the format established by the Petitioner in his preparation of the Appendix Record and the references in its Brief. Reference herein to "(APP 00001-00010)" and similar references throughout the Respondent's Brief shall refer to the page designations contained in the Appendix Record by the Petitioner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> W.Va. Code §11A-3-45.

make such application within the time allowed, he shall lose his right to the deed, but his rights against deputy commissioner under the provisions of section sixty-seven of this article shall remain unaffected. Any deed executed pursuant to an order of the court shall have the same force and effect as if executed and delivered by the deputy commissioner within the time specified in the preceding section.

Ten days' written notice of every such application must be given to the deputy commissioner. If, upon the hearing of such application, the court is of the opinion that the applicant is not entitled to the notice or deed requested, the petition shall be dismissed at his costs; but, if the court is of the opinion that he is entitled to such notice or deed, then, upon his deposit with the clerk of the circuit court of a sum sufficient to cover the costs of preparing and serving the notice, unless such a deposit has already been made with the deputy commissioner, an order shall be made by the court directing the deputy commissioner to prepare and serve the notice or execute the deed, or appointing a commissioner for the purpose, as the court or judge shall determine. The order shall be filed with the clerk of the circuit court and entered in the civil order book. If it appears to the court that the failure or refusal of the deputy commissioner was without reasonable cause, judgment shall be given against him for the costs of the proceedings, otherwise the costs shall be paid by the applicant.

Any commissioner appointed under the provisions of this section shall be subject to the same liabilities as the deputy commissioner. For the preparation of the notice to redeem, he shall be entitled to the same fee as is provided for the deputy commissioner. For the preparation and execution of the deed, he shall also be entitled to a fee of \$50 and recording expenses to be paid by the grantee upon delivery of the deed.

The Respondents argued to the Circuit Court that there is no evidence that the Auditor's Office refused to perform any statutory duty required by it.

There is one lien at issue in the "Petition to Compel Issuance of a Tax Deed." (APP 00002-00004). On October 29, 2021, the Petitioner purchased a tax lien identified as Certification Number 252922, described as LOT 37 Crawford ADD, CAMERON CORP district. (APP 00009). The sale was approved on November 1, 2021, by the Auditor of the State of West Virginia. (APP 00014). Thereafter, the Petitioner prepared a list of those to be served with notice of his/her right to redeem. (APP 00028). On April 6, 2022, Mr. Rollyson notified the Petitioner that notice was served in accordance with the West Virginia Code and that the property has not

been redeemed within the specified time. (APP 00021-22). An invoice was submitted to the Petitioner for the total deed fee less the deposit amount. (APP 00021-22).

Prior to the tax deed being executed and recorded, on May 17, 2022, Mr. Rollyson received a facsimile from the City of Cameron that Stanley Lahew, the property owner, signed a quit claim deed granting his ownership interest in the property to the City of Cameron. (APP 00025-27). On May 24, 2022, Mr. Rollyson sent the Petitioner a letter informing him that the purchase was being set aside due to the "Quitclaim Deed to the City of Cameron", and that the Sheriff of Marshall County has been directed to refund the \$50.00 purchase price to the Petitioner. (APP 00023-24).

Thereafter, the Petitioner communicated to the City of Cameron and the Auditor's Office to dispute the acquisition of the property. (APP 00054). The attorney for the City of Cameron forwarded the agenda and minutes for the May 16, 2022, Cameron City Council meeting, and advised that the City of Cameron "strongly disagrees with your characterization of the facts, which seem to be based on nothing more than unsubstantiated speculation." (APP 00053). As the Circuit Court noted in its Order granting the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the real dispute regarding title to the property, if any, is between the Petitioner and the City of Cameron. (APP 00060). Notably, the Petitioner chose to file suit against the Respondents and not the City of Cameron.

The Circuit Court, based on a review of the "Petition to Compel Issuance of a Tax Deed", the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the Petitioner's Response to the Motion to Dismiss, the Respondents' Reply brief, and the factual record, found, pursuant to W.Va. Code §11A-3-60, that the Petitioner was not entitled to the requested deed. (APP 00055-61). There is no factual or legal basis to overturn that Order.

#### III. SUMMARY OF RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

One assignment of error is identified in the Petitioner's Appeal Brief.

The Petitioner contends that the Circuit Court erred in "granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss with prejudice." The Petitioner is wrong.

When the City of Cameron acquired the property on May 17, 2022, the City of Cameron's lesser right as the holder of the tax lien that attached due to the private owner's failure to pay taxes, was merged with its greater right as the owner of the property and, as such, the lien was extinguished.<sup>3</sup> The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has long recognized and applied the doctrine of merger as a valid legal principle. The Petitioner has failed to cite any case in which a court has held that the merger doctrine applies when a state acquires property but does not apply when one of the state's subdivisions acquires property. Counties and cities are looked upon as part of the state rather than as inferior governmental bodies.

The Circuit Court's application of the law is correct. The Auditor's Office has not refused to perform any required statutory duty. When the State Auditor was notified, by the City of Cameron, that ownership of the property was deeded to the City, the tax sale was set aside and the Sheriff of Marshall County was directed to refund the \$50.00 purchase money to the Petitioner.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondents state that oral argument under W. Va. Rev. R.A.P. 18(a) is not necessary. The issues on appeal are adequately briefed and the case law related to the issues on appeal is well settled.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> El Dorev Holdings, Inc. v. W.Va. Dept. of Admin., 760 S.E.2d 875 (W. Va. 2014).

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews an order granting a motion to dismiss under a de novo standard.4

# B. The Circuit Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's "Petition to Compel Issuance of Deeds".

The doctrine of merger has been recognized by the Supreme Court of Appeals and its application here is supported by both the factual circumstances and public policy.

Pursuant to the doctrine of merger, when the State purchases title to property on which it holds a lien, the State's lesser right as a lienholder merges in its greater right as landowner.<sup>5</sup>

The doctrine of merger, in the context of a purported sale of State property for taxes, is discussed at greater length in <u>State v. Locke</u>, a case that is cited and relied upon as supporting authority in the <u>Armstrong</u> decision.<sup>6</sup>

The object of taxing property is to produce the revenues with which to conduct the business of the state; it is entirely inconsistent with our theory of government for the property of the state to be taxed, or sold for taxes, in order to produce the money to be expended by the state. Such a procedure is but taking the money out of one pocket and putting it in the other. Another consideration, which should not be overlooked, is that if public property, that is to say, property owned by the state, is to be burdened with a tax lien, the public might lose it entirely through oversight or carelessness of its agents in failing to pay the taxes when due, and allowing the same to be sold and the title pass to third parties.

. . .

[W]hen property is acquired by the state in its sovereign capacity, it thereupon becomes absolved, freed, and relieved from any further liability for taxes previously assessed against it, and which are unpaid at the time it becomes so acquired that from the moment of its acquisition the power to enforce the lien is arrested or abated. The claim of the state for such taxes becomes merged in its ownership of the fee. To consider it further burdened with such lien, and to permit it to be subsequently sold for the payment thereof, results in the state selling its own property to pay itself. The claim of the state for unpaid taxes initiates the

<sup>5</sup> Armstrong Products Corp. v. Martin, 119 W.Va. 50, 51-52, 192 S.E. 125, 127 (1937).

6 State v. Locke, 219 P. 790 (N.M. 1923).

<sup>4</sup> Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995).

proceedings which subsequently, by complying with the required procedure, ripens into ownership by the purchaser of the tax title. Such a claim for unpaid taxes is therefore indispensable to acquiring such a title. In this instance, there was no claim for any taxes after the state acquired the property, so that the defendant purchased without the existence of such a claim.<sup>7</sup>

The property in question was freed and absolved from further liability for the taxes previously assessed against it, the moment it was acquired by the state. Prior to that time, the state merely held a lien against such property to secure the unpaid taxes so previously assessed, and this lien was merged into the ownership of the title in fee. That a lien, whether it be created by mortgage or otherwise, is merged into the title of the holder thereof the moment he acquires the fee to the property covered by such lien, is a proposition of law too well settled to merit the citation of authority.<sup>8</sup>

The Petitioner has failed to cite any case in which a court has held that the merger doctrine applies when a state acquires property but does not apply when one of the state's subdivisions acquires property. Counties and cities are looked upon as part of the state rather than as inferior governmental bodies.

Courts in other states adopting the rule that tax liens are extinguished apply it not only when property is acquired by the state, but also when it is acquired by political subdivisions of the state. The Supreme Court of California has held that a city's condemnation of land upon which the state held tax liens acted to merge the tax liens with the title to the property and extinguish them. Similarly, the Texas courts have held that when property is acquired by a city or a county, all preexisting tax liens merge with the title. The Washington Supreme Court has noted its acceptance of the rule that when property is acquired by the state, county or city existing tax liens are discharged or merged in the title acquired by the public body. The Appellate Court of Illinois indicated that it was siding with the majority of jurisdictions holding

<sup>7</sup> Locke, 219 P. at 792.

<sup>8</sup> Locke, 219 P. at 794.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Smith v. City of Santa Monica, 162 Cal. 221, 121 P. 920 (1912).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Childress County v. State, 127 Tex. 343, 92 S.W.2d 1011, 1016 (1936); City of Marlin v. State, 205 S.W.2d 809, 811-812 (Tex.App.1947).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Halvorsen v. Pacific County, 22 Wash.2d 532, 156 P.2d 907, 908 (1945).

that "when a municipal corporation acquires property after a lien for unpaid taxes has accrued, the preexisting lien is extinguished and unenforceable, and any subsequent tax sale is rendered void." 12

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in El Dorev Holdings, Inc. v. W.Va. Dept. of Admin. quoted State v. Locke (as cited above) where it held that when property is acquired by the State in its sovereign capacity, it thereupon becomes absolved, freed, and relieved from any further liability for taxes previously assessed against it, and which are unpaid at the time it becomes so acquired that from the moment of its acquisition the power to enforce the lien is arrested or abated... the claim of the State for such taxes become merged in its ownership of the fee... to consider it further burdened with such lien, and to permit it to be subsequently sold for payment thereof, results in the State selling its own property to pay itself.<sup>13</sup>

The same public policy reasons articulated in <u>Locke</u> are equally valid when a political subdivision of the state acquires property. As noted in <u>Locke</u>, the tax exemption for property owned by the state, counties, and municipalities arises from public policy that repudiates as an act of futility the theory of the state taxing its own property in order to produce the funds with which to operate its own affairs. Obviously, in this context, counties and cities are looked upon as part of the state rather than as inferior governmental bodies, as they may be considered in other contexts.

The Petitioner attempts to distinguish <u>El Dorev Holdings</u>, Inc. and <u>Armstrong</u>, and in doing so simply fails to appreciate that the facts of those cases are irrelevant. When the City of Cameron acquired the title to the parcel of property, however that acquisition may occur is irrelevant. "It is a general principle of law that where a greater estate and a less coincide and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In re County Collector, 79 Ill.App.3d 151, 34 Ill.Dec. 717, 718-719, 398 N.E.2d 392, 393-394 (1979).

meet in one and the same person, without any intermediate estate, the less is immediately annihilated, or in the law phrase is said to be merged; that is, sunk or drowned, in the greater."<sup>14</sup>

The Petitioner's attorney's arguments that for "whatever reason(s), Respondents chose not to issue the tax deed to Petitioner for nearly two (2) months after the redemption deadline had passed" thereby constituting a "refusal to perform a statutorily required duty" are unsupported by the factual record and the Petitioner fails to include citations related to when these issues were presented to the Circuit Court.<sup>15</sup>

As it relates to the Petitioner's arguments related to W.Va. Code §11-3-9(a)(3), there is no direct evidence that was presented to the Circuit Court by the Petitioner that the State Auditor "determined that the property is exempt from taxation and is used for a public purpose." As noted by the Circuit Court, any dispute regarding the "use" of the property is between the Petitioner and the City of Cameron. (APP 00051). It is notable that the Petitioner chose not to sue the City of Cameron when raising these issues on appeal. One can only assume the Petitioner's receipt of the agenda and minutes from the May 16, 2022, Cameron City Council meeting led to that decision. (APP 00053).

W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 provides that if the court is of the opinion that the applicant is not entitled to such notice or deed, then the petition shall be dismissed. That is what happened related to the certificate at issue. W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 further provides that if the court is of the opinion that the applicant is entitled to such notice or deed, upon the applicant's deposit with the clerk of the circuit court of a sum sufficient to cover the costs of preparing and serving the notice, unless such a deposit has already been made with the deputy commissioner, an order shall be made by the court directing the deputy commissioner to prepare and serve the notice or

<sup>14</sup> Black's Law Dictionary 989 (6th ed. 1990).

<sup>15</sup> W. Va. Rev. R.A.P. 10(c)(7).

execute the deed, or appointing a commissioner for the purpose, as the court or judge shall determine. This is the only remedy set forth in the statute and had the Circuit Court determined that the applicant was entitled to the notice or to the deed, and the Circuit Court ordered the deputy commissioner to prepare and serve the notice or execute the deed, the act(s) would have been done. However, as shown above, the Circuit Court did not err in its findings.

The Petitioner then raises issues regarding damages and attorney's fees and costs.

As it relates to the Petitioner's claim for "damages" the only monetary remedy contemplated in an action filed pursuant to W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 is where it appears to the court that the failure or refusal of the deputy commissioner was without reasonable cause to issue a notice or deed, judgment shall be given against him for the costs of the proceedings. Otherwise, the costs shall be paid by the applicant.

The statute expressly provides the cause of action for an alleged failure to issue a notice or issue a deed. Nowhere in this expressly created statute does it authorize a tax lien purchaser to recover monetary damages from anyone. None of the case law cited by the Petitioner deals with a W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 application. All that is required under the statute is that the court decide whether the applicant is entitled to the notice or deed requested.

Because the Legislature defined the remedies available and remained silent regarding recovery of monetary damages, there can be little doubt that the Legislature did not intend to allow for monetary damages for violations of this statute. A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the Legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect. The statutes of this Article clearly provide that no cause of action against the State Auditor may be maintained for the purpose of claiming or recovering economic damages.

<sup>16</sup> See Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 65 S.E.2d 488 (W.Va. 1951).

The Petitioner's argument that this Court should, if it rules in his favor that the matter should be remanded for further proceedings to allow him to proceed with claims against Respondents for damages is unwarranted. A motion to dismiss is not a pleading, and numerous affirmative defenses are available to the Respondents once a responsive pleading is filed, including, but not limited to, the Petitioner's failure to provide the required statutory pre-suit notice for many of his claims.

Again, the only monetary remedy contemplated in an action filed pursuant to W.Va. Code §11A-3-60 is where it appears to the court that the failure or refusal of the deputy commissioner was without reasonable cause to issue a notice or deed, judgment shall be given against him for the costs of the proceedings. Otherwise, the costs shall be paid by the applicant. The Circuit Court correctly found that the Petitioner was not entitled to the requested deed.

Attorney's fees are not "costs." This lawsuit is not an original proceeding in mandamus.

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